VetConnect* PLUS

Online Services

User's Guide





Proprietary rights notice

Information in this document is subject to change without notice. Companies, names and data used in examples are fictitious unless otherwise noted. No part of this document may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical or otherwise, for any purpose, without the express written permission of IDEXX Laboratories. IDEXX Laboratories may have patents or pending patent applications, trademarks, copyrights or other intellectual or industrial property rights covering this document or subject matter in this document. The furnishing of this document does not give a license to these property rights except as expressly provided in any written license agreement from IDEXX Laboratories.

© 2016 IDEXX Laboratories, Inc. All rights Reserved. • 101621-03

4Dx, Petly, Pet Health Network, SNAP, VetConnect, and vetconnect.com are trademarks or registered trademarks of IDEXX Laboratories, Inc. or its affiliates in the United States and/or other countries. Microsoft and Internet Explorer are registered trademarks of Microsoft Corporation in the United States and other countries. Android, Google, and Chrome are trademarks of Google, Inc. Mozilla and Firefox are registered trademarks of the Mozilla Foundation. Apple, Safari, and iPhone are trademarks of Apple Inc., registered in the U.S. and other countries. All other product and company names and logos are trademarks of their respective holders. The IDEXX Privacy Policy is available at idexx.com.



One IDEXX Drive Westbrook, Maine 04092 USA idexx.com

Contents

Introduction to VetConnect PLUS	4
Getting started is easy	4
Setting up your VetConnect PLUS account	4
Creating member accounts and setting practice preferences	5
Viewing, graphing, printing, and sharing test results	7
Viewing test results	7
Filtering results by veterinarian	9
Graphing test results over time (trending)	10
Printing or saving a test report	11
Sharing test results with clients and specialists	12
Running a Diagnostic Summary (Requisition) report	14
Producing client-friendly summaries	15
Ordering tests from IDEXX Reference Laboratories	17
Ordering tests for a single patient	17
Ordering a single test for multiple patients (batch order)	20
Adding tests to an order	21
Canceling an order or reprinting a test requisition form	22
Requesting a consultation	23
Managing patient information	24
Editing patient and client information	24
Finding diagnostic tests within a patient's history	25
Viewing patient communications	25
Get VetConnect PLUS on your mobile phone	26
Downloading and setting up the mobile app	26
Viewing results in Apple and Android phones	28
Learning more about VetConnect PLUS	32

Introduction to VetConnect PLUS

VetConnect* PLUS makes ordering, reviewing, and trending test results easier and faster:

- Get IDEXX in-house and reference laboratory results immediately anytime, anywhere—in your practice management system, on your tablet, or on your mobile phone.
- View in-house and reference laboratory results side by side, with automatic graphs that trend test results over time.
- View digital radiographs and pathology images online (JPGs), in context with the patient's laboratory results.
- Easily share results with clients, and print client-friendly health summaries.
- Collaborate with referral practices in real time, sharing the same VetConnect PLUS patient view.
- Order reference laboratory tests online, with easy-to-read, bar-coded test requisition forms for improved accuracy.

Getting started is easy

To use VetConnect PLUS online services, your practice needs:

- Internet access
- An IDEXX Reference Laboratories account and/or IDEXX in-house analyzers
- A VetConnect PLUS account (see the next section)

VetConnect PLUS supports the following browsers:

- Microsoft* Internet Explorer* version 10 or higher (Version 7 or higher if you access VetConnect PLUS from your practice management system).
- The latest versions of Google* Chrome*; Mozilla* Firefox*; and Apple* Safari*.

Setting up your VetConnect PLUS account

Contact VetConnect PLUS customer support:

- U.S.: Call 1-888-433-9987, or email vccontactus@idexx.com.
- Canada: Call 1-800-667-3411, or email vccanada@idexx.com.

If you think your practice may already have a VetConnect PLUS account but are not sure who the VetConnect PLUS administrator is at your practice, contact customer support, as described above.

Creating member accounts and setting practice preferences

When your account is ready, IDEXX will email you an administrator user name and password. Use the administrator credentials to:

- Create VetConnect PLUS user names and passwords for practice staff.
- Set your practice preferences.

For instructions, see the following section.

Once you have a VetConnect PLUS account, you can view your IDEXX diagnostic results by logging on to VetConnect PLUS anywhere, at any time.

Creating staff user names and passwords

To create user names and passwords:

- 1. Log on to vetconnectplus.com (U.S.) or vetconnectplus.ca (Canada), using the VetConnect PLUS administrator user name and password.
- 2. Select the Account Administration link from the drop-down menu next to your name.



3. Click the Practice Administration link at the top of the next page.



- 4. In the Practice Members area, click Add New Member.
- 5. Fill in the required fields under **New Account Information**, and then click **Create**.
- 6. In the Permissions area, select tasks this person will be allowed to perform:
 - View Lab Reports (view all VetConnect PLUS laboratory results for your practice).
 - Order Tests/Consult (request additional tests and internal medicine consultations through VetConnect PLUS).
 - Administer Practice (edit practice information and add or delete members).
- 7. Click Save.

Setting test-result and regional preferences

To set preferences related to test results:

- 1. Log on to vetconnectplus.com (U.S.) or vetconnectplus.ca (Canada), using the VetConnect PLUS administrator user name and password.
- 2. Select the **Account Administration** link from the drop-down menu next to your name.



3. Click the **Practice Administration** link at the top of the next page.



- 4. Navigate to the Preferences area, located below the Practice Members area (you may need to scroll down), and set preferences for these options:
 - **Batch heartworm format**: Apply a single barcode to a batch of heartworm tests, or apply a separate barcode to each test in a batch.
 - Email: To receive test results by email, select Email Results, and then choose from the email options displayed.

Note: Results can be mailed to only one email address.

Tip: The results will be emailed to the address specified in the Practice Administration area on the left side of this page.

- **Results Display**: Choose any additional information you want to include on your VetConnect PLUS results: test code, client ID, patient ID, and/or client first name.
- 5. Click **Save**.

To set regional preferences (units, decimal indicators, time zone):

- 1. Log on to vetconnectplus.com (U.S.) or vetconnectplus.ca (Canada), using the VetConnect PLUS administrator user name and password.
- 2. Click your name in the upper right corner of the page, and then select from the following menu options:
 - Change Preferred Units
 - Change Decimal/Digit Grouping
 - Change Time Zone
- 3. When finished, click your name to close the menu and apply your changes.

Viewing, graphing, printing, and sharing test results

You can view all of your patients' results for IDEXX in-house and reference laboratory tests side by side in VetConnect* PLUS, along with IDEXX radiographs (JPGs) and pathology images. View results for all doctors or only those you select.

Learn how to easily view, filter, trend, print, report, and share results below.

Viewing test results

Finding test results

Locate your most recent test results right on the Home page in the Complete column.
 OR

Search for a patient or test by entering search terms or a date range at the top of the page.

To open the test result, click the patient name in the Complete column or in the search results.
 Tip: A blue dot
 means the result has not yet been opened.



Understanding the test result display

 Results are color-coded by test category (such as red for hematology); an icon indicates the source of the test result, such as the analyzer icon for the ProCyte Dx* Hematology Analyzer.

DEXX VetConnect	PLUS		Home Direct	ory of Services	Imaging	Telemedi	icine			Dr.	James H	lerriot 🝷
POLLY P	AIGE 11	569E	c.	R Fr	ga zommuni	ations			0	rder Dia	agnost	ics
2015 NOV 20	OCT 16	OCT 15 FEB 27	FEB 26	FEB 10	2014	SEP 9	SEP 9	2013		e -	- 🖻	\bigotimes
	10/13/	15 3137 PM	ProCyte Dx I	Tematology Analyze Show Detail	-	2/10/15 3:35 PM	9/9/14 2:41 PM	+	Day	Graph Decel	ect all	
▶ RBC	8.91	6.54 - 12.2 M/µL		I		9.1	8.52	9.0		Dec 30, 2010	- Oct 16, 2	015
F Hematocrit	40.7	30.3 - 52.3 %	(l_	I (42.3	39.1	41.	Dec'10	Aug 12	Mar 14	Oct 75
F Hemoglobin	12.4	9.8 - 16.2 g/dL		I		12.8	12.1	12.	House	2000 C		
▶ MCV	45.7	35,9 - 53,1 fL	LL	I ()		46.5	45.9	45.	riema	oone		
▶ MCH	13.9	11.8 - 17.3 pg	[I		14.1	14.2	14.		-		
▶ MCHC	30.5	28.1 - 35.8 g/dL				30,3	30.9	30.				~
RDW	22.5	15.0 - 27.0 %	1 I	1 (22.4	22.3	22.	_			_
▶ % Reticulocyte	0.1	%				0.1	0.1	0.1	WBC			- 22
Reticulocyte	8.9	3 - 50 K/µL	1			8.2	6	11.			1	(

• To view order information, such as requisition ID and collection date, click the **Show Details** link below the analyzer name.

FEB 26	FEB 10	2014	SEP 9
ProCyte Dx H	ematology Analy <u>Show De</u>	tails	2/10/15 3:35 PM
			9.1

- If other results exist for the same analyte, they are displayed in columns to the right, for easy comparison with the current result.
- Graphs on the right display analyte trends over time; see "Graphing test results over time (trending)," below, for more information.
- To view other available test results by date, click a date tab at the top of the page.

Filtering results by veterinarian

There's no need to search through results for every veterinarian at the practice. You can easily select the doctors whose results you want to see.

To filter results by veterinarian:

1. On the left side of the Home page, above the In Process list, click the down arrow next to All Veterinarians.



 Select the check boxes for the veterinarians whose results you want to see, and then click Apply. The selected veterinarian names are displayed above the test results, and the results are filtered to patients for those veterinarians.

IDEXX VetConnect PLUS	Home
DIAGNOSTICS	patient name, patient ID, ve
2 Veterinarians 🔻	
BROWN DVM, PETER 🔀	DR. FELLOWS
In Process	
MOST RECENTLY UPDATED	8
Theory of Manager	

Graphing test results over time (trending)

Interactive trending graphs make clinically relevant changes easier for clients to understand.

To display trending graphs:

1. Open the test result, and then view the trending graphs on the right. Six analytes are automatically graphed.

Tip: If you don't see the trending graphs, click Graphing in the upper right.



- 2. To add more graphs, click the analyte names on the left.
- 3. To work with a trending graph:
 - Click the expansion icon in the upper right corner of the graph to expand the graph and display it in the center of the page; click the X in the upper right corner to minimize the graph again.
 - Click a data point in the expanded graph to see the associated data values in the graph header:



4. To close the graph completely, click the analyte name again.

Printing or saving a test report

To generate a test report:

- 1. Open the test result, and then click in the upper right corner of the window. A test report PDF is displayed in a new browser tab.
- 2. From the menu bar at the bottom of the report, click **Save** or **Print**.

	L					
peppermin	IT PATTY					
PET OWNER: PATTY SPECIES: Canine		IDEXX VetConnect One IDEXX Drive	Plus Sales Account US		LAB ID: ORDER ID:	2200048949 841984
BREED:					DATE OF RECEIPT:	3/13/15
GENDER: Female AGE: 11 Years		ACCOUNT #: 8527	3		DATE OF RESULT:	3/13/15
PATIENT ID: A12345		ATTENDING VET: HOHE	ENHAUS, DVM, ANN			
DEXX Services: Tota	l Health [™] with Lab 4D	x® Plus				
Hematocrit		WBC		BUN		
Tiomatoont				Don		\wedge
-	▶	n		H	_	\checkmark
		• • • •				
		L	-	L		
Apr 12	Mar 15	Apr *12	Mar '15	0 Apr '12		Mar '1
Creatinine		ALT		ALP		
		n		н		
-		L		•		
Apr '12	Mar 15	Apr 12	Mar '15	Apr '12		Mar '1
_						
lematology 🚡	•					2
/13/16 (Order Received) /13/16 4:02 PM (Last Upd	ated)				10/23/14	3/18/14
EST	RESULT	REFERENCE VALUE				
RBC	7.02	5.39 - 8.7 M/µL			7.13	6.9
lematocrit	45.9	38.3 - 56.5 %			46.0	44.0
lemoglobin	17.4	13.4 - 20.7 g/dL			17.3	16.5
//CV	65	59 - 76 fL			65	64
NCH	24.8	21.9 - 26.1 pg			24.3	23.9
NCHC	37.9	32.6 - 39.2 g/dL			37.6	37.5
% Reticulocyte	0.4	%			0.7	0.5
Reticulocyte	28	10 - 110 K/µL			50	35
WBC	9.2	4.9 - 17.6 K/µL			8.6	7.8
% Neutrophil	59.3	%			64.3	61.6
Generated by VetConnec			1 /4 6	<u>م</u>	2	Page 1 of

Sharing test results with clients and specialists

You can easily share test results with clients or other hospitals three ways:

- Email: Send a PDF file of the current test report.
- **Petly*:** If you use IDEXX Pet Health Network* Pro, place results on the patient's Petly online pet page. To learn more, visit <u>pethealthnetworkpro.com</u>.
- Collaborate: Share test results with another VetConnect PLUS practice.

To choose your sharing method:

- 1. Open the patient test result.
- 2. Click **Share** and then click the sharing method (Email, Petly, or Collaborate).



- 3. Provide the requested information:
 - To select a different sender, choose a name from the drop-down list, or click **Add New** in the drop-down list to create a new sender.
 - Enter the recipient's email address; for the Collaborate option you can also select the recipient from the drop-down list, click **Add New** in the drop-down list to create a new recipient, or click **Edit** to change the current recipient's information.

Note: Only someone with administrator credentials can add new recipients to the list of collaboration recipients. Other users must select from the existing recipients in the list.

- 4. Click Send.
 - For **Email**: VetConnect PLUS sends a PDF of the current test report to the recipient.
 - For **Petly**: The report is placed on the Petly online pet page.
 - For **Collaborate**: The recipient receives an email invitation to accept the shared information. See the next section for details.

Collaborating with specialists

The Collaborate feature lets you share results with another VetConnect PLUS hospital, so both hospitals can see the same consolidated patient history at the same time.

Benefits:

- **Patient's hospital**—You can share test results with a specialist easily, without copying, faxing, or emailing, and you'll see the specialty hospital's test results as soon as they're available.
- **Specialty or referral hospital**—You'll have instant access to the incoming patient's consolidated history for a better diagnostic picture. Support your client hospitals by sharing your test results immediately.

Here's an example:

Practice A plans to refer patient Zoe to Practice B. Both hospitals use VetConnect PLUS:

- 1. Practice A displays Zoe's test results in VetConnect PLUS and sends a collaboration request (see the previous section).
- 2. Practice B receives the email invitation, and clicks View in VetConnect PLUS.



3. When the VetConnect PLUS logon page opens, Practice B logs on and sees the New Shared Patient page.



- 4. The page contains information about Zoe and lists any records at Practice B that might be a match. In this case there were no matches.
- 5. Practice B clicks Accept.

Now Zoe's VetConnect PLUS records are visible to **both** practices in VetConnect PLUS.

6. To stop the sharing relationship, contact IDEXX Customer Support. Results already shared will remain visible, but new results will no longer be shared.

Running a Diagnostic Summary (Requisition) report

Similar to the Requisition report in classic VetConnect*, the Diagnostic Summary report lists your IDEXX Reference Laboratories tests by patient and includes requisition number, veterinarian, and test status.

Use the report as a daily checklist or to reconcile patient invoices. You can run the report for today, yesterday, or for any date range.

IDEXX Reference Laboratory Diagnostic Summary September 13, 2016							
Order Date	Patient and Test(s)	Requisition #	Veterinarian	Status			
Sep 12, 2016	BLAKE ANDERS 3679k-1		AARON	IN PROCESS			
	4035 Urine Culture and MIC Susceptibility* 8499 Free T4 by Equilibrium Dialysis						
	POLLY PAIGE 11569E 300 CBC, Comprehensive		LISA BATUR				

To run the Diagnostic Summary report:

Click **Generate Diagnostic Summary** in the upper right corner of the Home Page, just below Order Diagnostics.



Producing client-friendly summaries

Send these attractive, informative reports home with your clients to illustrate the value of the preventive diagnostics you provided for their healthy cat or dog.

Choose the health monitoring summary or the SNAP* 4Dx* Plus Test summary or both. Each summary can be customized with patient information and your own observations.







To produce a client-friendly summary:

- 1. Open the test result, and then click $\boxed{2}$ in the upper right.
- 2. Choose the summary you want, select the content, and then click Next.

APR 10	20	>			+		\oslash
PRE My fun	VENTIVE C/ clinical asse ctioning nor	ARE SU ssment mally:	MMARY t indicate	es the fol	llowing s	ystems a	are
] Liver & Ga] Kidney] Blood] Thyroid] Pancreas 8	llbladde Llbladde	er ines				
	Bladder & Bladder & D	Urine ngs	ß				
Learn	NP 4DX PLUS	S SUMM	IARY Friendly	Summar	ries		
			Nex	:			

3. Enter your own information to personalize the report.

APR 10	201 🔪	•		+		\bigotimes
Practice Ir IDEXX De From: Dr. Blinke	formation: mo Practice r			>		
Doctor's n Good new common o appear to care testii health iss and to ob pet is hea	otes: Is! We have so conditions, and be functioning ng is very impr ues before Pep tain a baseline lithy. Keep up f	reened Pe d your pet ortant for opermint s of blood the good	eppermin 's organ /. This pr us to sp shows sy values w work!	t's blood systems reventive ot potent mptoms, rhile your	for tial	
Recomment 1 year Preview Pl	nded follow-up DF	:	~	21 cha	racters	left
+			•			

4. Use the buttons at the bottom of the window to print or email the report.

Ordering tests from IDEXX Reference Laboratories

Important:

- If you order reference laboratory tests through your practice management system, **continue to do so**. Follow the steps below only if you typically use hand-written order forms or if you've been using classic VetConnect* (vetconnect.com*).
- **Always** include a printout of the requisition form when you send the specimens to your IDEXX laboratory.

Ordering tests for a single patient

To order tests:

- 1. Click Order Diagnostics on the Home page or on any test result page.
- 2. If you started from the Home page, select the patient or add a new patient, and then click **Next: Select Tests**. (If you started from a patient record, the patient is already selected.)

IDEXX D	iagnostics	Select a Patient		×
		6		Species 🗸
	Patient	Patient ID Breed	Client ID	
		Add new patient		^
Ħ	Blake Anders	3679k-1	3721p	<u>edit</u>
\mathcal{H}	Buffy Kapowski	D12345		<u>edit</u>
Ħ	Coco Winston	4988R-1	3157V	<u>edit</u>
75	Keno Sanders	3182f-1	4824v	<u>edit</u>
Ħ	Marley Miller	C12345		<u>edit</u>
-				
Add ne	ew patient		Next: Sele	ect Test(s)

3. If prompted for missing information, enter the required information and then click **Save and Select Tests**.

IDEXX Diagnostics	Complete Missing Information	×
Client First Name	Client ID 123	
Client Last Name* Smith	Client's Practice Affiliation None	~
Patient Name* Missy	Gender* Please select	~
Patient ID*	Birth Date*	
Species (Animal Group)* Feline	Age 3 Years V	S
Breed Please select	Microchip #	
+	Save and Select	Tests

Your most frequently ordered tests are displayed:



- 4. Choose tests any of these ways:
 - Select from your frequently ordered tests in the list.
 - Search by test name, test code, or test component using the search box at the top.
 - Click a tab to choose from featured tests, tests for specific diseases, tests organized by body system, or tests organized by categories such as hematology or chemistry.

Tip: To view test details, click the information icon to the right of the test name.

5. Enter the veterinarian's name on the right, and then provide any additional information required, such as specimen details or notes and instructions.

IDEXX Diagnostics 🎢 Blake Anders (3679k-1)					
Search by test name, code, or cor	nponents Q	New Diagnostic Ord Veterinarian *	ler		
Frequent Featured Diseases CBC, Comprehensive(300 WBC, RBC, Hgb, Hct, erythrocyte ind 8:00 a.m. 1 mL LTT, two blood small	igystems Categories Categories Categories Categories Categories Categories Categories	Please enter Bob Potatoe Chris dr steve Dr. Bushnell Dr. Jones Dr. Tuya Buchanan	× × × × ×		
Urinalysis, Urine Culture Susceptibility*(1394) Urinalysis: physical, chemical and m Preliminary results in 24 hours 5 r	e and MIC icroscopic a nL urine in a	Florian G Gav jenna Napolitano Jessica Farrow Jim	× × × × × ×		
IDEXX VetLab Station BL (BUN)	IN/UREA	Kirsten Doe Lisa B Lisa Batur	×××	,	
Acid-Fast Stain for Myco (408) Canine	bacteria 🔒 🗸	Notes/Instructions	Ord	er	

Tips:

- To remove a veterinarian's name from the selection list, click the X to the right of the name.
- If the **Add-ons Available** button is displayed, you can click it to select certain additional tests.
- 6. When ready, click Order.

A pop-up message will alert you if any required information is missing.

When the information is complete, the requisition form opens as a PDF file.

7. Print the form and include it with the specimens you send to the laboratory.

Ordering a single test for multiple patients (batch order)

A batch order submits a request for a single test for multiple patients at once. You can create batch orders for Canine Heartworm Antigen, Fecal Ova and Parasites, and many other tests.

To submit a batch order:

1. Click the down arrow next to Order Diagnostics, and then select **Batch Requisition**.



2. Search for and select patients. You must include at least two patients in a batch.

LabREXX Batch Requisition							
Use the batch requisition tool to select multiple patients for a single IDEXX Reference Laboratory test. If you intend to add to the batch throughout the day, Save Draft once you have added your available patients and then edit the draft later to add more patients and complete the requisition. The list of drafts is displayed on the LabREXX Home Page.							
Search clients/patients	_						
Names or IDs	Patient ID	Patient	Client Last Name	Client Id 9			
	1234	ginger	bardelli		Edit Select		
Search	1346	fuzzy	bean		Edit Select		
	99	tbeau	beauchamp	99	Edit Select		
Limit search by species	6789	Lou	Bertram	12345	Edit Select		
Canine 🔻	55555	blah	blah		Edit Select		
	55556	blah1	blah1		Edit Select		
ADD NEW PATIENT Show Full List	8758257	George	Blais		Edit Select		
<u>Clear List</u>	1234	ruff	bob		Edit Select		
	9.0336854	Emily	Brandenburg		Edit Select		
	-00112	Primula	Brandybock	00112	Edit Select		
	52 patients	match your se	arch 1 2 3	4 5 <u>Next 10</u>	Patients Last		

- 3. Scroll down, and then under **Select Test**, select the test to order. You can select only one test per batch.
- 4. Under **Select the Staff**, select the doctor's name and the name of the person submitting the requisition.



- 5. When finished, click **Next**.
- 6. Click **Print and Finalize** to print the form.

		US Refe	1 IDEXX Dri Westbrook, ME	est Account ve, 04111
Phone: Fax: Email: Antrim #: Doctor: Staff:	207-558-8867 207-558-8867 john-ellingsworth@idex 13862 t. test A. Falconer	x.com	Batch Test: Requisition #: Date Collected: Patients:	7723 Special Heartworm Antigen by ELISA-Canine* 5079005 November 15, 2011 4
1. ginge	r bardelli			THE REPORT AND A TOTAL TOTAL TOTAL AND A REPORT AND A REPORT AND A
La	b Use: Accession	Sticker		NEWS CONTRACTOR OF CONTRACT
200				12852, S019803, 1723, bardell, griger, F., CANINE, ISY, LABRADOR_RETRIE, Isel, Isel, 11/15/2011, FS Carine, C/30
2. fuzzy	bean			
La	h Use: Accession	Sticker		
Lu	000011000000000	STONG!		13852, 3078525, 7723, been, fuzzy, F, CANINE, 4Y, POODLE, lest, lest, 11/15/3211, FI Centre, C/30
3. Lou E	lertram			
3. Lou E	lertram	Stickor		NERGENHENEN EN
3. Lou E La	lertram b Use: Accession	Sticker		THE STATE OF A CANADA AND A CANADA AND AND AND AND AND AND AND AND AN
3. Lou E La 4. tbeau	ertram b Use: Accession b beauchamp	Sticker		THERE OF AN ARCHITECTURE OF A CANTER FOR AND A CANTER FOR
3. Lou E La 4. tbeat	lertram b Use: Accession I beauchamp	Sticker		

Important: Include the printed form when you send the specimens to your IDEXX reference laboratory.

Adding tests to an order

You can add tests to an order two ways:

• From the In Process column on the Home page, if the test samples have not yet been

processed (accessioned). The order will display a pencil 🗹 icon.

• From a test result for a completed order, if enough appropriate sample remains at the laboratory.

To add tests to an order in the In Process column:

- 1. Find the order in the In Process column—the test must display the pencil icon indicating that the samples have not yet been processed—and then click the test row.
- 2. When the order dialog box opens, make changes as needed, and then click **Order**.

To add tests to a completed order:

 Open the test result in VetConnect* PLUS, and then click Add + in the upper right. The Request window opens, with the Add Tests option selected.

	۳.		+	2	0
Request: Add Test					
Request additional test(s) to be performed Select test	d on this	specime	en:		✓
Select test					
Select test					⊻
Rebecca Bowes					
Add comments:					
			0000 -6		1-8
		1	0000 ch	aracters	lert
Submit R	equest				

- 2. Select up to 3 tests, and then select the requestor's name.
- 3. Enter any comments or notes, and then click Submit Request.

The request is sent to the laboratory. The laboratory will contact you if there is not enough remaining sample to complete the tests or if there are other questions or concerns.

Canceling an order or reprinting a test requisition form

Important: You can cancel an order or reprint the test requisition form until the samples have been processed at the laboratory.

Note: A pencil icon *i* next to the test on the Home page indicates the test has not yet been processed (accessioned).

To cancel or reprint an order:

- 1. On the Home page, find the test in the In-Process column.
- 2. If the blue pencil appears, indicating the samples have not yet been processed:
 - To cancel the order, click the **Trash** icon.
 - To reprint the order form, click the **Print** icon.



Requesting a consultation

From within VetConnect PLUS, you can submit a request a consultation with an IDEXX board-certified internal medicine consultant.

To request a consultation:

- 1. Open the test result in VetConnect PLUS.
- 2. Click **Request a Service** + at the top of the page to display the Request box.
- 3. Provide the requested information and click **Submit Request**.

		7	+	2	0
Request: 。	onsult				
From: Add New		~			^
Doctor:* Ex.	, Dr. Theodor Geis	sel]		- 11
Reply to:* you	urName@Somepla	ce.com]		- 8
Phone:*					- 8
Cc:]		- 11
🗹 Ir	nclude as email sig	Inature			- 8
Best time for an I 1st choice	DEXX Consultant t	o call you: 2nd choice		~	- 1
Type of Consult:*					- 11
O Internal Medi	cine-Canine/Feline	1			- 11
O Avian/Exotic					- 8
Oncology					- 11
O Other					- 11
Question / Concer	n:				. 11
					~
Submit Reque	st				

Managing patient information

Editing patient and client information

Important: Only users with administrator privileges can edit client and patient information.

To edit patient/client information:

- 1. Open a test result for the patient.
- 2. At the top of the page, click **Profile**, and then click **Edit patient information** at the bottom of the box.



3. Make the changes, and then click **Save**.

Finding diagnostic tests within a patient's history

The Patient History tool lists diagnostic results by date, so you can quickly locate past test results.

To find diagnostic tests:

- 1. Open a test result for the patient.
- 2. At the top of the page, click History, and then review the Diagnostic History list.

Home Directory of Services Imaging Telemedicine									
				profile	history	communications			
PATIE POLLY	NT: (11569E)	CLIENT: PAIGE (11569)		SPECIES: Feline	BREE	D: stic Shorthair	GENDER: Female	YR OF BIRTH: 2001	
	Diagnostic History (21) Suggested Matches (0) Search for Matches								
Þ	11/20/15 5:20 PM SediVue Dx Urine Sediment Analyzer, IDEXX VetLab UA Analyzer						^		
Þ	10/16/15 In Spec fPL®-Feline*, SDMA (H7017851)								
Þ	10/15/15 4:08 PM IDEXX VetLab UA Analyzer, Catalyst Dx Chemistry Analyzer, SNAPshot Dx Analyzer, VetLyte Electrolyte Analyzer, ProCyte Dx Hematology Analyzer						- 1		
Þ	2/27/15	Spec fPL®-Feline* (H0165172)							
$\left \cdot \right $	> 2/26/15 3:57 PM SNAPshot Dx Analyzer								

- 3. If you can't find the test you're looking for, use these tabs to find patients that might have been confused with the current patient:
 - Suggested Matches lists any patients that VetConnect* PLUS recognizes as a close match.
 - Search for Matches lets you search for patients with similar names, IDs, etc.

Viewing patient communications

Patient communications include collaboration requests, emails, and print requests.

To view a communication history for a patient:

- 1. Open a test result for the patient.
- 2. At the top of the page, click **Communications**.



Get VetConnect PLUS on your mobile phone

The VetConnect* PLUS mobile app is available for both Apple* and Android* mobile phones. The mobile app displays results for both in-house and IDEXX Reference Laboratories tests.

Downloading and setting up the mobile app

Follow the instructions below to download and set up the VetConnect PLUS app on an Apple or an Android mobile phone.

To download the app on an Apple iPhone:

Tip: Prefer to see the download and setup steps? Watch this quick snippet.

1. On your iPhone, tap 🙆 (or go to appstore.com).

Tip: If reading this PDF file on your phone, you can just tap the icon below.



- 2. Search for VetConnect PLUS.
- 3. Tap
- 4. When the download is finished, tap
- 5. Sign in with your VetConnect user name and password. You only need to sign in the first time.
- 6. Tap Learn How >.
- 7. Tap the onscreen items, as prompted, to see a quick tour of VetConnect PLUS features.
- 8. Tap Next, and then tap Take me to the app.
- 9. Tap **OK** to personalize your notifications.
- 10. Tap **OK** again to receive notifications. The Settings screen opens.

Important: You must tap OK in order to receive test result notifications for your patients.

- 11. To personalize your app, tap **Settings** at the top left and then set these options as needed:
 - Days to Sync: The number of days of test results you want to see in your inbox.
 - Personalization: Lets you filter test results to specific doctors. Be sure to select all variations of a doctor's name.
 - Alerts for new results: Green means you clicked OK to receive test result notifications. If the option is **not** green, tap the round slider to turn alerts on now.
- 12. Tap **Done** in the upper right. Your Diagnostics inbox opens, displaying your patients' most recent test results.

Tip: You can change any these settings by tapping **Settings** in the upper left corner of the screen.

The app is now ready to use. Look for the VetConnect PLUS icon 🔛 on your desktop.

To download the app on an Android phone:

Tip: Prefer to see the steps? Watch this quick snippet.

On an Android phone, tap Play Store or go to <u>play.google.com/store</u>)
 Tip: If reading this PDF file on your phone, you can just tap the icon below.



- 2. Search for VetConnect PLUS.
- 3. Tap
- 4. When the download is finished, tap **OPEN**. The app is added to the App Drawer on your phone.
- 5. Tap the App Drawer **H**, select the app, and then sign in with your VetConnect PLUS user name and password. You only need to sign in the first time.
- 6. Tap See what's new.
- 7. Tap the onscreen items, as prompted, to see a quick tour of VetConnect PLUS features.
- 8. Tap Next and then tap Take me to the app.
- 9. To personalize your settings:
 - a. Tap **Days to Sync** and then choose the number of days of test results you want to see in your inbox.
 - b. Set the **Alerts for new results** option to On (green). This ensures you'll be notified every time an in-house or reference laboratory test result is returned.
 - c. Use the **Personalization** setting to filter test results to specific doctors. Be sure to select all variations of a doctor's name.
 - d. Tap **Done** when finished.

Tip: You can change any these settings by tapping **Settings** in the upper left corner of the screen.

The app is now ready to use. Look for the VetConnect PLUS icon 🔛 in your app drawer.

Viewing results in Apple and Android phones

To see completed results:

Completed results for both in-house and reference laboratory tests are displayed by default.

A red dot next to a patient name means you have not yet opened the test result.

Tip: To quickly mark a test result as read (or unread) on an iPhone, swipe the test result left and then tap the red button.

●●●○○ AT&T M-Cell 중 1:18	B PM	イ ∦ 76% ■ ♪
Settings Diagn	ostics	
Complete (182)	In Proc	cess
FRIDAY, NOVEMBER 20, 2	2015	
Paige tic Shorthair, F 14y VetLab UA, SediVue Dx HERRIOT	5:20 PM	Mark > As Read
SATURDAY, OCTOBER 17,	2015	
 Polly Paige Domestic Shorthair, F 14y 2493 Spec fPL®-Feline DR. JAMES HERRIOT 	e*, 3638 Sdma	9:43 AM

To see in-process results:

Tap the **In Process** tab to see the current status of the test, from beginning to end, including individual test results as they become available.



To search for and open a completed test result:

- 1. In an iPhone, swipe the top of the screen down to reveal the **Filter recent** search box.
 - or

In an Android phone, tap Filter 🗡.

2. Enter your search criteria.



3. Tap the patient name to display the patient's results.

4. If historical results are available, you'll see overlapping "card edges" on the right and a small date and arrow above—tap the cards or the arrow, or swipe left to display the historical results.

HEMATOLO	GY	10/23/14 <
RBC	7.02	7.13
Hematocrit	45.9	46.0
Hemoglo	17.4	17.3
MCV	65	65
МСН	24.8	24.3

To view analyte graphs and interpretive summaries:

1. To graph an analyte, tap the analyte name. The graph opens within the list of results.

• • • • • Verizon	२ 1	:36 PM	∅ ∦	41% 💷	
<	Scarl	et Loranc		Û	
HEMATOLO)GY				
CHEMISTRY	(
Glucose	91				
BUN	29				
Creatinine	1.5				
IDEXX S	17	0 - 13 µg/dL	N	lore 🗙	
0.0	•			•	Analyte graph
12/31/14	1/29/15	2/27/	/15	3/27/15	
SDMA is a n earlier tha Unlike crea creatinine	new test in creat itinine, should	SDMA is r be interpr	evalua some a not im reted	te kidn nimals pacted togethe	
then kidney	/ functi	on is like	elv go	od. As	

2. To view an interpretive summary of analyte information, tap the graph.

•०००० Verizon		M © *	42% 💷 •		
Scarlet	Loranc IDE	XX SDMA	_		
da	ay month y	/ear all			
17-					
13.0-	•		•		
0.0	1/29/15	2/27/15	3/27/15		
Int	erpretation	History	5/2//15		
		Thistory			
SDMA:	Symmetr	іс			
dimethy	larginine				
Earlier int managem	ervention f ent of kidne	or more eff ey disease	ective		
		-			
	Allast:		۱ ۸ ک		
	vvnatis		٦: و	-	Interpretive summa
	H₅C.	\bot	\sim		

3. Use the filters above the graph to display data points for specific time periods.



4. To see the patient's historical results for this analyte, tap **History**.

•०००० Verizon	२ 1:4	1 PM 🧿	\$ 39% ■→					
Scarlet Loranc IDEXX SDMA								
da	y month	year all						
17-	•		•					
12/31/14	1/29/15	2/27/15	3/27/15					
Inte	erpretation	History						
3/27/15	14	0 - 13 µg/dL						
1/18/15	14	0 - 13 µg/dL						
12/31/14	17	0 - 13 µg/dL						

5. To return to the result list, tap < at the top; to close the graph, click the **X** in the upper right corner of the graph.

To view images (from pathology, radiology, SediVue Dx, etc.):

1. Tap the patient name to open the test results.

Images, such as those in results from the SediVue Dx* Urine Sediment Analyzer, are displayed as thumbnails.

- 2. Tap a thumbnail to display the image in the full-screen viewer, where you can zoom and pan the image, or scroll through multiple images.
- 3. To share the image with others, tap (iPhone) or
 (Android).
- 4. Tap the X to close the image and redisplay patient results.



Get up to speed quickly with tutorials and short videos at idexxlearningcenter.com/vetconnectplus.